SUPREME COURT No. 15-0772
DELAWARE COUNTY CASE No. PCCE07544

**IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

ROBERT KROGMANN

Applicant-Appellant,

v.

STATE OF IOWA

Respondent-Appellee.

*ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR DELAWARE COUNTY
HONORABLE THOMAS BITTER, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE*

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Angela Campbell
Counsel of Record for Applicant-Appellant
DICKEY & CAMPBELL LAW FIRM, PLC
301 East Walnut St., Ste. 1
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
PHONE: (515) 288-5008
FAX: (515) 288-5010
EMAIL: angela@dickeycampbell.com

PROOF OF SERVICE

On January 17, 2016, I filed this brief electronically through the EDMS system, which will serve the parties:

Robert Sand
Attorney General's Office

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE PRETRIAL ASSETT FREEZE IN KROGMANN'S CRIMINAL CASE VIOLATED KROGMANN'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

Authorities

U.S. Supreme Court

Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279 (1991)
Chapman v. California, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967)
Ferri v. Ackerman, 444 U.S. 193 (1979)
McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168 (1984)
Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 23 (1983)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510 (1927)
United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140 (2006)
Vasquez v. Hillery, 474 U.S. 254 (1986)
Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39 (1984)

Federal cases

United States v. Stein, 435 F.Supp.2d 330 (SDNY 2009)
United States v. Stringer, 535 F.3d 929 (9th Cir. 2008)

Iowa Supreme Court

Harrington v. State, 659 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa 2003)
Key v. State, 577 N.W.2d 637 (Iowa 1998)
Lado v. State, 804 N.W.2d 248 (Iowa 2011)
Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)
Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)
State ex rel Pillers v. Maniccia, 343 N.W.2d 834 (Iowa 1984)
State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Ruble, 372 N.W.2d 216 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa Court of Appeals

Estate of Lyon ex rel Lyon v. Heemstra, 779 N.W.2d 494 (Iowa Ct. App. 2010)
State v. Wise, 697 N.W.2d 489 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)

Constitutional Provisions, Statutes, and Rules

Iowa Code §331.755
Iowa Code §910.1
Iowa Code §910.10

Iowa Const., art. I, sec. 9
Iowa Const., art. I, sec. 10
Iowa Const., art. I, sec. 12
Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1502
Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1504
Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1507
Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1508
Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:3.5
U.S. Const., am. V
U.S. Const., am. VI
U.S. Const., am VIII

II. KROGMANN RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL THROUGHOUT HIS CRIMINAL CASE.

Authorities

United States Supreme Court

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

Iowa Supreme Court

Key v. State, 577 N.W.2d 637, 639 (Iowa 1998)

Constitutional Provisions, Statutes, and Rules

Iowa Criminal Jury Inst. 200.13.

III. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED NUMEROUS INSTANCES OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WARRANTING A REVERSAL OF KROGMANN'S CONVICTION.

Authorities

Iowa Supreme Court

Key v. State, 577 N.W.2d 637 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Boggs, 741 N.W.2d 492 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Ragland, 812 N.W.2d 654 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Ruble, 372 N.W.2d 216 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Webb, 244 N.W.2d 332 (Iowa 1976)

IV. KROGMANN'S SENTENCE VIOLATED THE MERGER RULE AND VIOLATES HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO BE FREE FROM DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

Authorities

Federal Courts

United States v. Chipps, 410 F.3d 438 (8th Cir. 2005)

Iowa Supreme Court

Harrington v. State, 659 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Braggs, 784 N.W.2d 31 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Clarke, 475 N.W.2d 193 (1991)

State v. Halliburton, 539 N.W.2d 334 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Luckett, 387 N.W.2d 298 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Powers, 278 N.W.2d 26 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Stewart, 858 N.W.2d 17 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Velez, 829 N.W.2d 572 (Iowa 2013)

Tindell v. State, 629 N.W.2d 357 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Court of Appeals

State v. Goins, 720 N.W.2d 192, 2006 WL 1229990 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006)

Constitutional Provisions, Statutes, and Rules

Iowa Code §701.9

U.S. Const. am. V.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this case requests the Court overrule prior precedent, and involves issues not yet settled by the Iowa Supreme Court, the Iowa Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal follows an application for postconviction relief alleging ineffective assistance of counsel, prosecutorial misconduct, and challenges to an illegal sentence. The postconviction application was denied by a written ruling filed April 14, 2015. Notice of appeal was filed May 8, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 13, 2009, Robert Krogmann shot his former girlfriend Jean Smith. (App. 47). Krogmann then called 911. (Ex. 5, 6 DVDs). At the time, Krogmann was suffering from severe mental illness. (App. 167-171). Krogmann was arrested and charged with attempted murder and willful injury the same day. (App. 47). Bond was set at \$750,000 cash only. (App. 47). David Nadler entered an appearance for Krogmann on March 23, 2009. (App. 47).

On March 24, 2009, the Delaware County Attorney Bernau filed an “Application for Order” (App. 47, 193-94). Bernau did not cite any authority, did not set forth the amount of the victim’s expenses, did not request a cap for the injunction, and did not provide any evidence that Krogmann would have sold or

transferred his assets to avoid a restitution order. (App. 193-94). There was no warrant, no oath or affirmation, and no affidavit attached to the motion. Bernau testified that no defense lawyer alerted him to any authority to the contrary on the asset freeze. (App. 104, l. 4-21).

On March 30, 2009, the Court granted the State's motion and froze all of Krogmann's assets. (App. 48, 195). Defense lawyer Nadler got the order granting the asset freeze before he ever saw the application requesting it. (App. 153, l. 18-22). The address the application was mailed to was never his address. (App. 154, l. 22 – p. 11, l. 7). Krogmann wanted the asset freeze challenged and authorities cited to the Court to lift the asset freeze. (App. 85, l. 17 – App. 86, l. 19). Nadler thought the asset freeze was “outrageous,” that there was not any authority for it, and he filed a resistance on April 2, 2009. Nadler thought filing the resistance meant he had resisted the asset freeze, even though it was filed after the Order was entered. (App. 152, l. 11-15). Nadler never thought of filing a motion to reconsider, felt like he had to go straight to the appellate court, and thought he had preserved the issue. (App. 156, l. 11 – App. 157, l. 24). He was not exercising any sort of strategy in not preserving the issue for appeal, or for not properly contesting it. *Id.* He filed an application for interlocutory appeal on April 28, 2009. (App. 48). The State resisted the application. (App. 48). The Application was denied on May 26, 2009. Later, on direct appeal, the Iowa Supreme Court ruled that Nadler

did not properly preserve Krogmann's complaints regarding the asset freeze. *State v. Krogmann*, 804 N.W.2d 518, 523-24 (Iowa 2011).

As a result of the asset freeze, Krogmann had to get a Conservator, and had to request permission from the trial court, with a copy to the prosecutor, every time he wanted to spend his own money on his criminal defense. (App. 48, 195). The Order required Krogmann to make application to the court to spend any of his assets, with explanation as to why he needed the money. Every application for access to his own money was reviewed by the county attorney, and the victim, and both were allowed to, and did, make objections to Krogmann's requests to spend his own money. Bernau objected to Krogmann's use of his own money for bond, for phone calls at the jail, for legal expenses, including hiring a jury consultant, and for personal expenses. These objections were filed by Bernau in the GCPR005152 conservatorship case. (App. 457-460, 465-66, 470-71, 480-81, 486-87, 489-91, 494-95, 497-500, 503-04). Krogmann's assets were \$3.3 million at the time. (App. 48).

At the same time, the victim sued Krogmann in LACV006620. Krogmann's attempts to hire a civil attorney were also stymied by the asset freeze. The victim was also allowed to continue to object to Krogmann's use of his own money for both the civil and criminal cases. (App. 457-460, 465-66, 470-71, 480-81, 486-87, 489-91, 494-95, 497-500, 503-04).

Of note, Krogmann's requests for money to pay \$20,000 to his civil attorney, Krogmann's requests to pay his bond, and Krogmann's requests to hire a jury consultant were all denied. (App. 48-50). Krogmann's requests to pay his criminal defense trial attorney were all eventually granted, but sometimes with significant delays. (App. 49, 482). For example, his August 3, 2009 request for \$20,000 to pay his criminal defense attorney was not granted until September 17, 2009. (App. 49, 482).

As one result, Krogmann did not have access to his own money to post bond, and so Nadler filed a Motion for Bond Review. (App. 48). After the hearing, the bond was raised, rather than lowered, to \$1,000,000 cash only. (App. 48). Mark Brown was then hired to take over the case. (App. 48-49). By the time Brown entered the case, he thought that the asset freeze issue could no longer be raised, and he never considered getting involved again on that issue. (App. 121, p. 21, l. 20-22). He did not file anything challenging the asset freeze.

Trial started on November 2, 2009, and Krogmann presented a diminished capacity defense. (App. 50). He was convicted of both attempted murder and willful injury on November 6, 2009. (App. 50). Krogmann was sentenced to 25 years for attempted murder and 10 years for willful injury, to run consecutive to each other. (App. 50). Notably, the actual restitution was approximately \$36,000 to the victim, and \$18,000 to the State, yet the asset freeze completely eliminated

access to over \$3.3 million in assets. *Krogmann*, 804 N.W.2d 518, n. 1, 4. The asset freeze continued past the time of the conviction into the appeal. Krogmann's direct appeal was ultimately unsuccessful. *Id.*

This postconviction application ensued. (App. 1-12). The PCR court held that defense counsel's actions with the asset freeze fell below the standard demanded of a reasonably competent attorney. (App. 53). However, the PCR Court determined that Krogmann had not shown enough prejudice to warrant a reversal of the conviction. Similarly, Krogmann's other arguments were denied by the Court and the Application was denied on April 14, 2015. Krogmann filed a Motion to Enlarge and Amend on April 27, 2015 asking for further elaboration as to the Court's findings regarding prejudice. (App. 58-59). The Court did not rule on the Motion. Notice of Appeal was filed May 8, 2015. (App. 60). Additional facts are included below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PRETRIAL ASSETT FREEZE IN KROGMANN'S CRIMINAL CASE VIOLATED KROGMANN'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

Preservation of Error

Defendant preserved error by filing an application for postconviction relief, (App. 1-12), taking the case to an evidentiary trial, raising the issue at the trial and in briefing (App. 15-46), and obtaining a ruling on the issue. (App. 53).

Specifically the Court acknowledged that Krogmann submitted the asset freeze

issue as an illegal action, ineffective assistance of counsel, and prosecutorial misconduct. (App. 52). The Court further acknowledged the prejudice Krogmann asserted were the inability to post bond, hiring more or different counsel, hiring a better expert, and hiring a jury consultant. (App. 53).

Krogmann filed a Motion to Enlarge and Amend, asking the Court to elaborate on its denial of Applicant's arguments that the asset freeze prevented him from hiring a jury consultant, and whether the asset freeze specifically also constituted prosecutorial misconduct. (App. 58). Both issues were acknowledged by the Court as having been raised by Krogmann (App. 53) and both were rejected by the Court's denial of the Application (App. 57), but the Court did not further elaborate on the evidence presented on these issues. To preserve error, a "party seeking to appeal an issue presented to, but not considered by, the district court" must "call to the attention of the district court its failure to decide the issue." *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

Krogmann submits that all of these issues were presented to the district court, and were denied by the court in its ruling on April 13, 2015, because "If the court's ruling indicates that the court *considered* the issue and necessarily ruled on it, even if the court's reasoning is 'incomplete or sparse,' the issue has been preserved. *Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012). To the extent any portion of Krogmann's argument was not directly addressed by the district

court, and the State seeks to argue that it was not properly preserved, Krogmann satisfied the requirements of *Meier* by filing his Motion to Enlarge and Amend.

Standard of Review:

The appellate courts review postconviction relief proceedings which implicate constitutional issues de novo. *Key v. State*, 577 N.W.2d 637, 639 (Iowa 1998).

Merits:

Krogmann's entire trial was pervaded by the State's pre-trial asset freeze which resulted in him not having access to his own assets for preparation of his defense at trial. The asset freeze was submitted to the trial court as both an ineffective assistance of counsel issue, and a prosecutorial misconduct issue. Krogmann submits it was ineffective assistance of counsel to not properly object to the asset freeze, not sufficiently preserve the issue for interlocutory or direct appeal, to fail to file a motion to reconsider the freezing of the assets, to fail to object to the prosecutor and victim's participation in the asset freeze and applications for funds, to fail to file an application to terminate the freeze order, to fail to cite clear controlling authority, and to fail to raise the prejudice the asset freeze was causing Krogmann at the trial level with regards to the asset freeze. Krogmann submits it was prosecutorial misconduct to file an ex parte application to freeze the assets in contravention of clear authority, to ignore the case law and

statutory law disallowing such freezes yet failing to cite the adverse controlling legal authority to the court, to fail to appropriately and timely notify defense counsel and the defendant of the asset freeze, to participate and contest defense spending on his own defense, and to allow the victim to participate in objecting to the defense spending on his own defense.

A. THE ASSET FREEZE WAS ILLEGAL.

Asset freezes are not allowed to be used the way they were used in this particular case –indeed this exact type of asset freeze was disallowed in *State ex rel Pillers v. Maniccia*, 343 N.W.2d 834 (Iowa 1984). The PCR Court acknowledged that *Maniccia* “seems to support Krogmann’s contention that his assets should not have been frozen.” (App. 52). The PCR Court further held that the county attorney’s actions in regards to the asset freeze were “troubling” and that “it seems clear that Krogmann’s counsel failed to properly raise his objection to the asset freeze,” thus the defense attorney’s actions “fell below the standard demanded of a reasonably competent attorney.” (App. 53).

Nothing in the Iowa Code allows for freezing a defendant’s assets for any reason. More specifically, nothing in the Iowa Code allows for a criminal prosecutor to freeze the assets of a criminal defendant so as to prevent the defendant from obtaining bond, or to prevent the individual from using his money in his criminal case without governmental involvement or interference. The Iowa

Supreme Court has already commented on the legality of the asset freeze in Krogmann's case. While the Iowa Supreme Court declined to reverse his conviction on this ground on direct appeal because it had not been preserved adequately below, in so doing, the Court stated,

Our determination that Krogmann has failed to preserve error does not mean we approve of the asset freeze. We are troubled by the State's effort to tie up a criminal defendant's personal assets without citing any rule or statute, without making a verified filing, and without citing the district court to relevant authority ([*Maniccia*](#)). We are also troubled by the State's attempts to use the asset freeze, once it was in place, to object to defense expenditures not on the ground they would jeopardize restitution or other victim compensation (the alleged reasons for the asset freeze), but simply because the State deemed them unnecessary.

Krogmann, 804 N.W.2d at 525. The opinion specifically preserved this issue for postconviction review. *Id.* at n. 8.

Even though Bernau cited no authority for his application to freeze the assets, and despite the Iowa Supreme Court's statements regarding the asset freeze, the State asserted at the PCR level that the asset freeze was not illegal. In so doing, the State claimed Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure 1.1501-1.1511 allow for the asset freeze, the State attempted to distinguish *Maniccia* from the instant case, and the State claimed that any asset can be frozen in a criminal case because criminal restitution is the same as a civil judgment. Each of these arguments misapplied and distorted Iowa law. Indeed, Bernau did not even cite any of these rules of civil procedure, or cases, in its application, demonstrating Bernau was never intending

on relying upon them. These arguments are raised years after the illegal asset freeze in a desperate attempt to justify a clearly illegal, and unconstitutional, violation of Krogmann's rights.

“The Rules of Civil Procedure have no applicability in criminal cases, unless made applicable by statute.” *State v. Wise*, 697 N.W.2d 489, 492 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005). The State cites no such statute – indeed there is none. In addition, even if these civil procedure rules applied (which they clearly do not) Bernau did not follow the requirements of the very rules that the State now attempts to defend his actions with. Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1502(1) requires supporting documentation, and specifically requires an affidavit, to be filed in support of a request for an injunction. No affidavit was filed. Rule 1.502(2) requires a showing that a person is “doing, procuring or suffering to be done, or threatens or is about to do” an act which will make “judgment ineffectual.” No such showing was provided. Rule 1.1504 requires the petition to certify whether this relief has been previously presented to any other court or justice. No such certification was included. Rule 1.1507 requires notice to the party who is subject to the injunction, or certification of the efforts which have been made to give notice to the party. No such notice was given – the Order was in place before Krogmann or his attorney ever knew about the application, and was obtained ex parte, in violation of Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:3.5. (A lawyer shall not communicate ex parte

with a judge “unless authorized to do so by law or court order.”). Rule 1.1508 requires a bond in the amount of 125 percent of the probable liability. Krogmann was never given this opportunity to pay a bond, nor was a bond requested. If it had been, the bond could have been paid, and Krogmann could have bonded out and paid for his defense expenses as he wished. Instead, Bernau wanted Krogmann’s entire assets to be completely frozen, regardless of the possible amount of restitution, because, in fact, Bernau did not want Krogmann to bond out and he wanted to control Krogmann’s expenditures on the defense case to give himself an advantage in the case.

Even the victim herself could not have encumbered all of Krogmann’s assets through attaching his land and preventing the sale of his assets for use as criminal attorney fees. *See Estate of Lyon ex rel Lyon v. Heemstra*, 779 N.W.2d 494 (Iowa Ct. App. 2010) (finding that the victim of a manslaughter could not file attachments as liens against the criminal defendant’s real estate). Surely the prosecutor himself could not do what the victim could not do.

The State argued that *Maniccia* is distinguishable because there was “exceptional circumstances” here because there was no other way to freeze Krogmann’s assets, and because *Maniccia* was decided under a different statutory scheme. Notably these arguments mirror the State’s arguments on direct appeal on this issue, after which the Court of Appeals commented,

Some time ago, in *Maniccia*, we held that a district court could not enter an injunction barring a person charged with a crime from disposing of property that might otherwise be used to reimburse the crime victim or the county. 343 N.W.2d at 834. As we put it, “[A] court of equity has no inherent power to issue the injunction requested by petitioner.” *Id.* at 835. The only difference here is that the State sought the order within the criminal case, instead of filing a separate civil action for injunctive relief.

Also, the State has the statutory right to seek a criminal restitution lien to protect both its interests and those of the victim. *See* Iowa Code § 910.10.⁴ Indeed, it requested and received such a lien. Under these circumstances, one might well question the State's ability to obtain inherent injunctive relief beyond the statutory remedy already afforded by section 910.10.⁵

Krogmann, 804 N.W.2d at 523-24. The Court then footnoted,

The State notes on appeal that section 910.10(5) provides, “This section does not limit the right of the state or any other person entitled to restitution to obtain any other remedy *authorized by law*.” (Emphasis added.) Still, this begs the question of how the asset freeze was ‘authorized by law.’”

Id. at 524, n. 5.

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