IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 15-0772

ROBERT KROGMANN, Petitioner-Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA, Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DELAWARE COUNTY THE HONORABLE THOMAS A. BITTER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

MARTHA E. TROUT

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) <u>martha.trout@iowa.gov</u>

JOHN BERNAU Delaware County Attorney

ROBERT H. SAND Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Defendant Cannot Demonstrate A Violation Of His Constitutional Rights.

Standard of Review

Appellate review of postconviction proceedings is reviewed for correction of errors at law. Iowa R. App. P. 6.907; *Brown v. State*, 589 N.W.2d 273, 274 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998). To the extent that Krogmann has alleged a violation of his constitutional rights, review is de novo. *State v. Hoskins*, 711 N.W.2d 720, 725 (Iowa 2006).

Preservation of Error

Krogmann asserts that the pretrial asset freeze violated his constitutional rights because (a) the asset freeze was illegal; (b) counsel was ineffective in dealing with the asset freeze; (c) the prosecutor committed misconduct in obtaining and maintaining the asset freeze; and (d) prejudice should be presumed or the court should find Krogmann established prejudice as a result of the asset freeze. Def. Brief at 16-38. The State does not agree that all of these claims may be raised on appeal.

Krogmann's outright challenges to the legality of the asset freeze and the claim of prosecutorial misconduct cannot be properly brought in this appeal because they were not properly raised either on

direct appeal or as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Iowa

Code § 822.8 provides:

All grounds for relief available to an applicant under this chapter must be raised in the applicant's original, supplemental or amended application. *Any ground finally adjudicated or not raised, or knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived in the proceeding that resulted in the conviction or sentence, or in any other proceeding the applicant has taken to secure relief, may not be the basis for a subsequent application, unless the court finds a ground for relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental, or amended application.*

Iowa Code § 822.8 (emphasis added). Generally, a claim not raised on direct appeal cannot be raised in a postconviction relief proceeding unless the applicant can demonstrate a sufficient cause or reason for not properly raising the issue previously. *Ledezma v. State*, 626 N.W.2d 134, 141 (Iowa 2001). Ineffective assistance of counsel may be sufficient reason for the failure to raise the claims below. *Id*. Notably, Krogmann, has neither argued nor demonstrated sufficient reason for the failure to properly raise the claims.

Likewise, Krogmann's claim of prosecutorial misconduct was raised on direct appeal and addressed by the Iowa Supreme Court. *Id.* at 526. Though Krogmann attempts to recast the issue as prosecutorial misconduct for failing to challenge the asset freeze, that also cannot be raised for the first time in a postconviction action absent sufficient reason or cause for not having raised the issue before. It is unclear from Krogmann's brief whether he is alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to allege prosecutorial misconduct because there is no analysis of the breach of duty or prejudice with regard to the claim of prosecutorial misconduct. The postconviction court considered both of these claims within the context of ineffective assistance of counsel and properly determined that counsel effectively represented Krogmann. The postconviction court's findings must stand.

Ineffective assistance

Krogmann asserts that under both the federal and Iowa constitutions, he was denied the effective assistance of counsel. "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Collins v. State*, 588 N.W.2d 399, 402 (Iowa 1998). A defendant claiming ineffective assistance must prove both that

counsel's performance was deficient and that prejudice resulted. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

The test for the first element is objective: whether counsel's performance was outside the range of normal competency. *Millam v. State,* 745 N.W.2d 719, 721 (Iowa 2008). Counsel is presumed to have acted competently and within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. *DeVoss v. State,* 648 N.W.2d 56, 64 (Iowa 2002). To overcome this presumption, the defendant must present an affirmative factual basis establishing inadequate representation. *Millam,* 745 N.W.2d at 721. The test for the second element is whether the defendant can prove there is a reasonable probability that, without counsel's errors, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different. *Id.* at 722; *Ledezma,* 626 N.W.2d at 143.

A. Asset freeze

1. Breach of duty

Krogmann raises a laundry list of ineffective assistance claims as it pertains to the asset freeze. He alleges counsel was ineffective in failing to properly object to the asset freeze; in failing to sufficiently preserve the issue for interlocutory or direct appeal; in failing to file a motion to reconsider the asset freeze; in failing to object to the

prosecutor's and victim's participation in the asset freeze and applications for funds; in failing to seek to terminate the freeze order, in failing to cite controlling authority; and in failing to allege he was prejudiced by the asset freeze. These claims must be addressed in the context and continuum of the attorneys who represented him. In other words, all of the claims do not apply to both counsel. Rather, some of the claims pertain to attorney Nadler and others pertain to attorney Brown.

Attorney Nadler

Attorney David Nadler represented Krogmann from March 23 to June 22, 2009. Appearance (3/23/09), Withdrawal (6/24/09); App. 190, 221. The State applied for an order freezing Krogmann's assets on March 24, 2009. Applic. For Order (3/24/09); App. 193-94. The district court granted the motion on March 30, 3009. Order (3/30/09); App. 195.

The State served attorney Nadler with a copy of the application however, it was mailed to the wrong address. Applic. For Order (3/24/09); App. 193-94. The district court granted the State's application before Nadler had a chance to object. Order (3/30/09); App. 195. Nadler, however, filed a resistance on April 2, 2009, and alleged:

COMES NOW the Defendant, by counsel, and hereby resists the State's application for order, and in support thereof states:

1. The State asks the Court to freeze Defendant's assets.

2. The State has cited no authority for such nor does any exist.

3. Should the Court deem a hearing necessary on the State's application, the undersigned will not be available for hearing for one and one half weeks starting 4/6/09 due to being in trial in federal court.

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays the Court deny the State's application for order, and prays for such further and other relief as may be fair and just.

Resistance to Application (4/2/09); App. 196. The record does not

contain any disposition related to the resistance. See Trial Court

Papers. Instead, Nadler sought interlocutory relief in the Iowa

Supreme Court. Applic. for Interlocutory appeal (4/28/09); App.

197-99. The State resisted the application and this court denied the

application on May 26, 2009. State's Resist. (5/12/09), Sup. Ct.

Order (5/26/09); App. 203-07, 212.

Attorney Nadler testified that he thought that the asset freeze

was "outrageous." PCR Exh. 3, p. 8, lines 1-6; App. 152. He

immediately resisted the asset freeze but did not think that "a judge that would enter an order like that was going to give my resistance much time." PCR Exh. 3, p. 8, lines 11-15; App. 152. He also thought he was "dealing with a cowboy judge who was going to order whatever he wanted." PCR Exh. 3, p. 11, lines 19-25; App. 155. Nadler did not even think about filing a motion to reconsider. PCR Exh. 3, p. 12, lines 1-14; App. 156. He thought it would be "pointless" to file anything else with the same judge who had not ruled on his resistance. PCR Exh. 3, p. 13, lines 20-24; App. 157. Nadler felt the only way he could "rein in" the district court was by seeking an appeal. PCR Exh. 3, p. 12, lines 1-14; App. 156. Such was his strategy with regard to the asset freeze. PCR Exh. 3, p. 13, lines 1-12; App. 157. He thought that his only viable option was to seek redress in the appellate court and assert there was no authority for the asset freeze and allege a due process violation. PCR Exh. 3, p. 13, lines 1-12, Applic. Interlocutory Appeal (4/28/09); App. 157, 197-99. He also thought that by seeking an interlocutory appeal he preserved the record sufficiently. PCR Exh. 3, p. 12, lines 15-22; App. 157. Ultimately, that strategy failed when the supreme court denied the application. Sup. Ct. Order (5/26/09); App. 212. Nadler also

testified that the asset freeze had no bearing on his representation of Krogmann during the limited time he represented him. PCR Exh. 3, p. 21, lines 2-5, p. 35, lines 3-23; App. 159, 165.

Nadler's strategy, albeit unsuccessful, was a reasonable one. Ledezma, 626 N.W.2d at 143 (improvident trial strategy, miscalculated tactics, and mere mistakes in judgment normally do not rise to the level of ineffective assistance of counsel); State v. Wissing, 528 N.W.2d 561, 564 (Iowa 1995). Nadler resisted the State's application for an asset freeze but the district court took no action on it. Resistance to Application (4/2/09); App. 196. He thought the only means to challenge the district court was to have an appellate court look at the case, however, the court denied his interlocutory appeal. Sup. Ct. Order (5/26/09); App. 212. He believed he preserved the claim well enough for appellate review, however, this court later determined that not to be the case. Krogmann, 804 N.W.2d at 525. This is an instance in which counsel took steps to challenge the asset freeze but his actions were frustrated by the district court's failure to rule on the resistance and this court's decision not to grant interlocutory relief.

Moreover, during the three-month period Nadler represented Krogmann, Nadler testified the asset freeze had no impact on his representation. PCR Exh. 3, p. 21, lines 2-5, p. 35, lines 3-23; App. 159, 165. Attorney Nadler cannot be faulted for not taking a different course of action on the asset freeze when it did not adversely impact the representation he provided to Krogmann. He had no basis to dissolve the asset freeze and no basis to allege prejudice especially after he tried twice unsuccessfully to do so. Additionally, Krogmann retained new counsel, Mark Brown, and Nadler had no occasion to deal with the conservatorship. No breach of duty occurred.

Attorney Brown

Krogmann retained the services of Mark Brown on June 22, 2009. Mot. for Leave to Withdraw (6/22/09); App. 219. Because Brown was not involved in the asset freeze, he testified he did not take any action to challenge it. He noted that by the time he became involved in the case, the asset freeze was complete, the conservatorship was set up, and he was aware of the steps he needed to take to obtain payment for his services. PCR Exh. 2-1, p. 19, line 11 through p. 20, line 7; App. 120. Brown testified that he did not challenge the asset freeze for two reasons. First, he knew Nadler

tried, unsuccessfully, to challenge the asset freeze both at the district court level and through an interlocutory appeal. PCR Exh. 2-1, p. 20, line 8 through p. 22, line 7; App. 120-21. He thought it would have been fruitless to challenge the asset freeze again given that it had been tried twice before and was rejected both times. PCR Exh. 2-1, p. 57, line 19 through p. 59, line 24; App. 127.

Brown also testified that he understood that Krogmann had also retained the services of attorney David Dutton to challenge the asset freeze within the context of the conservatorship. PCR Exh. 2-1, p. 21, line 7 through p. 22, line 3, p. 56, lines 13-25; App. 121, 126. Brown felt that he had been hired to defend Krogmann in the criminal case and that was what he was focusing on; presenting the best defense for Krogmann. PCR Exh. 2-1, p. 21, line 7 through p. 22, line 3; App. 121.

Moreover, the asset freeze had little effect on the defense. Although Brown thought that the process he had to go through to get paid through the conservatorship was a bit cumbersome, he accepted that and focused his attention on the defense. PCR Exh. 2-1, p. 56, line 3 through p. 58, line 19, p. 61, lines 3-6; App. 126-28. The money was available for Krogmann's defense and he knew he would get paid.

PCR Exh. 2-1, p. 56, line 3 through p. 58, line 19, p. 61, lines 3-6; App. 126-28.

Given this testimony, Krogmann cannot demonstrate counsel breached a duty in failing to challenge the conservatorship. Brown reasonably determined that challenging the asset freeze would have been fruitless because prior counsel Nadler had twice done so without success. Brown also spent his time focusing on the defense and left the matter of the asset freeze to David Dutton who Krogmann hired to challenge the matter. Brown testified that the asset freeze had little, if any effect, on his representation of Krogmann. Thus, no breach of duty occurred.

2. Prejudice

Krogmann must also demonstrate prejudice. To do so, he must establish that had either attorney challenged the asset freeze, the asset freeze would have been dissolved and he would not have been convicted of attempted murder and willful injury. On the strength of the evidentiary record, Krogmann cannot demonstrate a reasonable probability of a different outcome even if the asset freeze had been successfully challenged.

The evidence established that on the morning of March 13, 2009, Krogmann went to the home of his former girlfriend, Jean Smith, to convince her to get back together. *Krogmann*, 804 N.W.2d at 520. While there, Krogmann shot Smith three times with a .44 revolver. *Id*. The first bullet entered Smith's stomach, the second her arm, and the third her spine. *Id*.

Krogmann called his son, Jeff, and told him what he had done. *Id.* Jeff Krogmann rushed to Smith's house and called 911 while en route. *Id.* When he arrived at Smith's house, she was one the floor with her robe soaked in blood. *Id.* Robert Krogmann was still holding the gun and turned it over to his son. *Id.* Given these facts, even if either attorney had done something different to challenge or dissolve the asset freeze, there is no reasonable likelihood of a different outcome. The evidence against him is compelling. Thus, Krogmann cannot demonstrate prejudice.

3. Structural error

Krogmann argues, however, that this is a case of structural error. "Structural errors are not merely errors in a legal proceeding, but errors affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds." *Arizona v. Fulminante,* 499 U.S. 279, 310 (1991). In Iowa, this court

has recognized that structural error occurs when (1) counsel is completely denied, actually or constructively, at a crucial stage of the proceeding; (2) where counsel does not place the prosecution's case against meaningful adversarial testing; or (3) where surrounding circumstances justify a presumption of ineffectiveness, such as where counsel has an actual conflict of interest in jointly representing multiple defendants. *State v. Feregrino*, 756 N.W.2d 700, 707 (Iowa 2008) (citing *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 659). Under these circumstances, no specific showing of prejudice is required as the criminal adversary process itself is "presumptively unreliable." *Lado*, 804 N.W. 2d at 252. Krogmann is incorrect in his belief that structural error occurred.

At no point in this case was Krogmann either actually or constructively denied counsel as a result of the asset freeze. His first attorney, Nadler, testified there was no negative impact from the freeze order or that the freeze order impaired his ability to represent Krogmann. PCR Exh. 3, p. 33, line 21 through p. 34, line 1; App. 163-64. Likewise, when Brown began representing Krogmann, the asset freeze was not a concern to him. Exh. 2-1, p. 22, line 19 through p. 23, line 6; App. 121. Even as Brown continued to represent Krogmann,

the asset freeze was not a problem, just a slight inconvenience. Exh. 2-1, p. 56, line 15 through p. 61, line 6; App. 126-28.

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